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QUESTION PRESENTED 

Whether the Seventh Circuit committed error 
when it held that the Wisconsin Court of Appeals rea-
sonably applied this Court’s “clearly established” law, 
28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1), in holding that the three-hour, 
noncustodial questioning of a 16-year-old, Mirandized 
suspect, using only standard techniques, was not un-
constitutionally “coercive.” 
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INTRODUCTION 

 This Petition is a splitless request for error cor-
rection, which urges this Court to do what it has told 
lower federal courts not to: second-guess a state 
court’s reasonable application of a fact-bound, total-
ity-of-the-circumstances test in a case governed by the 
Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act 
(AEDPA).  Petitioner’s only argument for evading 
AEDPA deference is criticizing the length of the state 
court’s opinion below, without even mentioning this 
Court’s instruction that “federal courts have no au-
thority to impose mandatory opinion-writing stand-
ards on state courts.”  Johnson v. Williams, 568 U.S. 
289, 300 (2013).  And Petitioner does not point to any 
division of lower-court authority on any legal ques-
tion, which is reason enough to deny the Petition. 

Even if this Court were inclined to consider Peti-
tioner’s error-correction request, the Seventh Circuit 
committed no error.  The Wisconsin Court of Appeals 
correctly articulated this Court’s totality-of-the-cir-
cumstances standard for voluntariness and reasona-
bly applied that standard to the facts.  Investigators 
conducted noncustodial questioning of Petitioner, 
whom they viewed as a potentially helpful witness in 
the investigation of an innocent woman’s murder at 
the hands of Petitioner’s uncle.  They began by asking 
Petitioner’s mother for permission to talk to him and 
by reading him his Miranda rights.  Throughout the 
three-hour, noncustodial interview, investigators 
used only standard techniques such as adopting a 
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sympathetic tone, encouraging honesty, and challeng-
ing his story when they believed he was lying.  Less 
than an hour in, Petitioner unexpectedly confessed to 
investigators that, at his uncle’s urging, he had raped 
the victim while she was tied up in bed and begging 
for mercy, and soon thereafter confessed to helping 
kill her and burn her body.  Petitioner now asserts 
that investigators fed him this confession, but the 
only plausible source for his admissions was his guilty 
conscience, as investigators did not even suspect sev-
eral key aspects of his confession, such as his rape of 
the victim.  As Judge Hamilton explained below, this 
“was a relatively brief and low-key interview of a Mi-
randized subject who was not mistreated or threat-
ened, whose creature comforts were satisfied, and 
whose parent consented”; hardly an egregious case 
warranting AEDPA relief.  App. 175a.  Tellingly, Pe-
titioner cannot cite any decision, from any court, in-
validating a confession by a minor in analogous 
circumstances, even on de novo review, let alone after 
affording AEDPA deference.   

What Petitioner and his amici are really seeking 
is a change in the law of juvenile interrogations, based 
upon “recent” “social-science research.”  Pet. 2.  Re-
spondent respectfully submits that if this Court 
wishes to consider such a change in law, this Court 
should await a case where developing new law is a le-
gally available option.  Granting review here would 
inevitably lead to an incomplete consideration of this 
complex question, given AEDPA’s strict limitations. 
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STATEMENT 

A.  Petitioner Brendan Dassey and his uncle 
raped, murdered, and mutilated Teresa Halbach on 
October 31, 2005.  App. 11a.  According to Petitioner’s 
own telling, he biked over to his uncle’s trailer, where 
he “could hear” someone “[s]creaming” “help me.”  
App. 384a–85a.  His uncle invited Petitioner inside 
and explained that he had a young woman “chained 
up” in his bedroom.  App. 389a–90a, 393a–96a, 450a.  
His uncle then offered to let Petitioner rape the vic-
tim, and while Petitioner initially declined, he wanted 
to “see how [sex] felt,” so he raped her for several 
minutes while she “cr[ied]” and pleaded with him to 
stop.  App. 395a–400a, 494a.  Shortly thereafter, he 
and his uncle murdered the victim and disposed of her 
body.  They went back into the bedroom, where his 
uncle “stabbed” and “choked” her, App. 402a–03a, and 
Petitioner “cut her” throat under his uncle’s instruc-
tions, App. 409a–10a.  They “tied her up” and carried 
her to the garage, where Petitioner’s uncle shot her.  
App. 404a, 414a–16a, 421a–22a.  They burned her 
body in a bonfire, App. 379a, 424a, 460a, and then 
burned the bed sheets and her clothes, App. 432a–
33a, cleaned the garage floor with “bleach” and “paint 
thinner,” App. 434a, and hid her car, App. 461a. 

Before Petitioner confessed to these horrific acts, 
investigators viewed him only as a potentially helpful 
witness.  A few days after the victim went missing, 
police found her car in the salvage yard owned by Pe-
titioner’s extended family and so began interviewing 



4 

the family.  See App. 198a–99a.  When an officer 
spoke to Petitioner in early November, Petitioner 
“went into a[n] inner struggle, physically.  He’d sit 
there, head down, withdrawn, motionless, answers 
would be muffled.”  R.19-18:124–25.1  Petitioner ini-
tially told police that there had been no bonfire, but 
later he acknowledged that this was not true.  See 
App. 522a–23a; R.19-21:45, 56–57.  Several months 
later, Petitioner’s cousin told investigators that Peti-
tioner had been “acting up lately,” “would just stare 
into space and start crying [ ] uncontrollably,” and 
had lost “about 40 pounds.”  R.19-18:189–90.   

Given the cousin’s statements, investigators 
sought to interview Petitioner again on February 27, 
2006; they believed he knew more than he was letting 
on, but at this point still assumed that he was merely 
a “witness to something horrific.”  R.19-19:8–9.  Inves-
tigators met Petitioner at his school and began by tell-
ing him that he was “free to go at anytime” and did 
not “have to answer any questions,” App. 511a, 513a, 
repeating this later in the conversation, App. 544a.  
Investigators confirmed that he understood by ask-
ing, “[D]id we promise you anything?” to which he re-
sponded, “That I could leave whenever . . . and I didn’t 
have to answer any questions.”  App. 554a.  Petitioner 
said that he had seen “parts of a human body in the 
fire” and that his uncle “had threatened to hurt him if 

                                            
1 Citations to the district court’s docket appear as “R.[ECF 

Number]:[Page Number].” 
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he spoke to the police.”  App. 12a, 512a, 543a.  Be-
cause the audio recording was poor, investigators 
asked Petitioner’s mother if they could video-record a 
follow-up interview, to which Petitioner and his 
mother agreed.  R.19-19:6–7.  Investigators offered to 
let Petitioner’s mother sit in during this interview, 
but Petitioner and his mother declined.  App. 284a, 
332a.2  Petitioner signed a Miranda waiver, App. 
562a, even though he was not in custody, App. 331a, 
and repeated the story that he had told them at 
school, R.19-30:50; see App. 562a–63a.  Later that 
evening, investigators asked Petitioner about a pair 
of bleach-stained jeans that they had learned about, 
and Petitioner admitted to helping his uncle clean up 
a “dark red” stain on the garage floor.  App. 12a; R.19-
15:194. 

Two days later, on March 1, 2006, investigators 
conducted another interview, during which Petitioner 
unexpectedly confessed to raping, killing, and muti-
lating the victim.  Investigators obtained permission 
to talk to Petitioner again from both him and his 
mother and then drove Petitioner to the police station.  
App. 343a–45a.  They again read Miranda warnings, 
App. 78a, 344a–46a, even though, as the parties have 
stipulated, App. 331a, Petitioner was not in custody.  
They questioned him in a “soft” room and “offered 
food, drinks, restroom breaks, and opportunities to 

                                            
2 Petitioner suggests this never happened, Pet. 16 n.5, but 

this is a factual issue that the state court resolved and so is “pre-
sumed” correct on AEDPA review.  28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).  
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rest.”  App. 13a.  They “spoke in measured tones,” 
“never [ ] raised their voices,” “did not threaten,” and 
did not “use intimidating or coercive language.”  App. 
27a, 176a.  Instead, investigators used common tech-
niques such as urging Petitioner to “tell the truth,” 
App. 23a, 333a–34a, speaking in a sympathetic tone 
to achieve a “rapport,” App. 30a, 286a, bluffing about 
what they knew, App. 11a, 286a, and occasionally 
asking leading questions to confront Petitioner with 
what they knew, see App. 17a.  They “made no specific 
promises of leniency.”  App. 2a.  While they rephrased 
a common maxim, saying that “[h]onesty is the only 
thing that will set you free,” App. 362a, they had just 
explained to Petitioner that “[w]e can’t make any 
promises,” App. 362a.  Petitioner “showed no signs of 
physical distress” throughout.  App. 27a.   

Petitioner volunteered “many of the most damn-
ing details [ ] in response to open-ended questions,” 
including “what he saw, what he heard, and even 
what he smelled.”  App. 2a, 28a, 191a–92a.  Petitioner 
initially told investigators that his uncle called him 
between six and seven o’clock to ask for help on his 
car.  App. 364a–69a.  Investigators pointed out that 
this account was inconsistent with what they knew 
and what Petitioner had told them two days earlier 
and encouraged him to “get the truth out.”  App. 
369a–70a.  Petitioner then revised his story, stating 
that his uncle came to his house to ask for help with 
something, but then showed him the victim’s dead 
body in the back of her car, explained that he had 
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“[r]aped her” (the first mention of rape during the in-
terview), and asked for “help [to] get rid of the body.”  
App. 370a–84a.  Investigators asked if Petitioner was 
“there when this happened[.]”  App. 384a.  Petitioner 
said no, so they asked whether the victim was dead 
when his uncle put her in the back of the car.  App. 
384a.  Petitioner quickly answered yes, causing inves-
tigators to ask, “How do you know that?”  App. 384a.  
Recognizing that he was caught in a lie, Petitioner ad-
mitted, unexpectedly, that he had heard screaming 
coming from his uncle’s trailer two hours earlier, but 
claimed he simply went home and “watched TV” until 
his uncle came and asked for him.  App. 384a–88a.  
Investigators challenged him again, explaining that it 
did not make sense for his uncle to “ask[ ] [Petitioner] 
to help him unless [he] kn[ew] [Petitioner] kn[ew] 
something.”  App. 388a.  Petitioner then acknowl-
edged that he went into his uncle’s trailer, so investi-
gators asked where the victim was and if “she [was] 
alive.”  App. 389a.  In response, Petitioner volun-
teered, out of the blue, that the victim was “hand-
cuffed” to the bed.  App. 389a–90a.  He then described 
having a conversation with his uncle about how his 
uncle had raped her.  App. 390a–94a.   

Petitioner’s interview then took an even more sur-
prising turn, with Petitioner confessing to participat-
ing directly in the brutal rape and murder.  After 
Petitioner described his conversation with his uncle, 
investigators asked, “What happens next?”  App. 
394a.  Petitioner was silent for about six seconds and 
avoided eye contact.  March 1 Recording, Part I at 
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11:41:10 a.m. to 11:41:16 a.m.  They followed up with, 
“Does he ask you?” and after a similar pause, “He 
does, doesn’t he?”  App. 395a.  Petitioner then told in-
vestigators that his uncle offered to let him “get 
some,” and “took [him] back there” to “show[ ] [him]” 
“[h]er naked body.”  App. 395a–96a.  Shortly thereaf-
ter, investigators asked Petitioner “what did you do?” 
App. 397a, and, “less than an hour into the interview,” 
App. 15a, Petitioner admitted that he raped the vic-
tim, App. 397a–400a, something investigators had no 
previous reason to suspect he had done, R.19-19:9, 25.  
When investigators later asked his “reason for doing 
[this],” Petitioner explained that he “wanted [to] see 
how it felt.”  App. 494a.  After admitting to raping the 
victim, Petitioner described helping his uncle kill her 
and dispose of her body.  App. 400a–18a.  Investiga-
tors spent the rest of the interview going over the re-
mainder of the day and confirming various details.  
App. 16a–21a, 419a–500a.   

Notably, throughout the interview, Petitioner “re-
sisted several lines of inquiry,” giving “substantial 
reason to find that [his] will was not overborne.”  App. 
193a; see also App. 28a.  Investigators asked at least 
seven different questions, at four different points in 
the interview, about whether Petitioner shot the vic-
tim himself.  App. 412a–13a, 416a, 421a, 458a.  They 
asked at least 15 questions, at six different points in 
the interview, about who started the fire and when.  
App. 379a, 417a–18a, 420a, 424a, 457a, 458a–60a.  
They asked nine questions about whether Petitioner 
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and his uncle used certain wires in the garage for an-
ything or did other “stuff” to the victim in the garage, 
App. 471a–73a, and nine questions about what hap-
pened to the victim’s hair, App. 452a–54a.  These 
were some of the most suggestive questions in the in-
terview, e.g., App. 421a (“We know you shot her too.  
Is that right?”), yet Petitioner consistently “stuck to 
his story,” App. 28a.  

The entire interview lasted about three hours, 
with a 30-minute break in the middle.  App. 15a, 78a. 

B.  A Wisconsin jury convicted Petitioner of first-
degree murder, rape, and mutilation of a corpse after 
a nine-day trial, based upon the State’s overwhelming 
evidence and the implausibility of Petitioner’s de-
fense.  The court sentenced him to life in prison with 
eligibility for release in 2048.  App. 89a. 

Petitioner’s March 1 confession played a central 
role in the State’s presentation, and the State submit-
ted a significant amount of evidence confirming the 
confession’s truthfulness.  For example, the State pre-
sented evidence that police found the victim’s bones 
and teeth just where Petitioner said that he and his 
uncle had burned her.  R.19-17:69–70, 74, 183–95, 
214–32.  Petitioner said that the victim was “chained 
up” in bed with “regular” handcuffs, App. 396a–97a; 
the police found handcuffs and leg irons in the bed-
room, R.19-16:17–18.  Petitioner said that his uncle 
had shot the victim “on the [ ] garage floor,” App. 
422a; the police found a bullet fragment with her 
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DNA in the garage, R.19-16:62–66, 203–11; R.19-
17:74–76.  Petitioner volunteered that he and his un-
cle used a mechanic’s creeper to carry the victim’s 
body to the fire, App. 380a; the police found a creeper 
in the garage, R.19-16:60.  Petitioner said that his un-
cle used a “shovel and [a] rake” to “push[ ] . . . around” 
the fire, App. 462a–63a; the police found a charred 
shovel and rake, R.19-17:190–93.  Petitioner ex-
plained that his uncle got a “scratch” “[o]n his finger,” 
App. 430a; his uncle did, in fact, have a cut on the 
middle finger of his right hand, R.19-16:22–23.  Peti-
tioner described cleaning up blood stains with “paint 
thinner” and “bleach,” App. 434a–35a; the police un-
covered an empty bleach bottle in the bathroom, R.19-
16:19–20, paint thinner in the garage, R.19-16:59, 
and Petitioner’s bleach-stained jeans, R.19-15:174–
75.  Petitioner told investigators that his uncle had 
placed the victim’s car key “[i]n his dresser drawer,” 
App. 427a; the police found the key in the bedroom, 
R.19-16:106. 

The evidence also undermined the implausible 
story that Petitioner told the jury at trial.  Petitioner 
testified that he only joined his uncle “for the bonfire” 
(where the police found the victim’s bones) and 
“helped [him] clean up a spill in his garage” (where 
she was shot), but that he never saw or heard any-
thing and that “none of the incriminating events re-
lated in his March 1st confession ever happened.”  
App. 21a–22a.  The State, however, introduced a writ-
ten statement from Petitioner’s cousin to investiga-
tors that Petitioner had told her he saw the victim 
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“pinned up in the bedroom.”  R.19-18:193–94.  And in 
two recorded phone calls to his mother, portions of 
which were played at trial, Petitioner acknowledged 
more involvement than he did on the stand.  R.19-
21:50, 54; R.19-35.  Petitioner also testified that he 
lied to police about the bonfire during the initial in-
vestigation.  R.19-21:56.  And Petitioner had lost 
weight and cried uncontrollably in the aftermath of 
the crimes.  R.19-18:189–90.   

Finally, Petitioner offered no plausible explana-
tion for where he got much of the material for his con-
fession, such as his rape, which investigators had no 
prior reason to believe had occurred.  R.19-19:9, 25.  
He claimed that he pulled his story from the book Kiss 
the Girls, which he had read three or four years prior, 
R.19-21:67, but that book has “[n]o scene[ ]” even “re-
motely similar to the crimes” that he described.  App. 
22a n.7. 

C.  Both before and after trial, the trial court re-
jected Petitioner’s request to suppress the statements 
he made on March 1 as involuntary.  See App. 296a, 
327a.  In reaching its decision, the trial court first con-
sidered Petitioner’s “relevant personal characteris-
tics”: He was “16 years of age,” had “low average to 
borderline” IQ, was enrolled in “mostly regular clas-
ses, but also in some special education classes,” “his 
only [prior] police contacts” were the interviews early 
in the investigation, and there was “no evidence that 
[Petitioner] . . . [was] unusually susceptible or vulner-
able to police pressures.”  App. 330a–31a, 335a.  The 
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court also thoroughly reviewed the circumstances of 
the interviews.  Petitioner signed a Miranda waiver, 
and at the beginning of the first interview on Febru-
ary 27, Petitioner “was told . . . that he didn’t have to 
answer any questions and [ ] was free to go whenever 
he wanted.”  App. 331a.  Petitioner’s mother “agreed” 
to a second interview on February 27 and when 
“asked if she wanted to be present,” said “it was not 
necessary.”  App. 332a.  Before the March 1 interview, 
investigators again “sought and received permission 
from [Petitioner’s] mother.”  App. 332a.  The March 1 
interview “lasted approximately three hours,” during 
which Petitioner “was seated on an upholstered 
loveseat.”  App. 333a.  Investigators used “normal 
speaking tone[s] with no raised voices, no hectoring, 
or threats of any kind,” and Petitioner never appeared 
“agitated, upset, frightened, or intimidated.”  App. 
334a.  “At various times . . . investigators encouraged 
[Petitioner] to provide details to them by appealing to 
his sense of honesty.”  App. 333a.  Investigators “oc-
casion[ally]” “purported to know details which, in fact, 
were not true or which represented uncorroborated 
theories of the crime . . . in order to draw infor-
mation.”  App. 334a–35a.  The court also identified 
multiple “attempt[s] [by investigators] to achieve a 
rapport with [Petitioner] and convince him that a 
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truthful account of events would be in his best inter-
est,” but found “[n]o frank promises of leniency.”  App. 
335a.3  

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals affirmed.  The 
court recited the appropriate test: It “evaluate[d] [the] 
confession’s voluntariness on the totality of the cir-
cumstances . . . balancing [Petitioner’s] personal 
characteristics against the police pressures used to in-
duce the statements.”  App. 285a.  The court “[b]ased 
[its decision] on [the trial court’s] findings” and sum-
marized the key points.  App. 285a–86a.  The court 
noted that Petitioner was “[s]ixteen-year[s]-old” and 
had “a ‘low average to borderline’ IQ but was in 
mostly regular-track high school classes.”  App. 284a, 
286a (quoting the trial court).  The interview lasted 
for “three[ ] hour[s],” App. 284a, while Petitioner was 
“seated on an upholstered couch,” App. 286a.  He 
“never was physically restrained and was offered 
food, beverages and restroom breaks.”  App. 286a.  Pe-
titioner “was properly Mirandized,” and his mother 
gave “permission” for the March 1 interview, just two 
days after “declin[ing] the offer to accompany [Peti-
tioner]” to an interview on February 27.  App. 284a, 
286a.  Investigators “used normal speaking tones, 
with no hectoring, threats or promises of leniency,” 

                                            
3 The above-described analysis comes from the trial court’s 

pre-trial ruling.  Post-conviction, the trial court held a five-day 
hearing, received additional briefing, and then found “nothing” 
“which would cause it to recede from its [prior suppression] de-
cision.”  App. 296a–97a, 306a. 
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and Petitioner “did not appear to be agitated or intim-
idated at any point.”  App. 286a.  It was not coercive 
for interrogators to “encourage honesty,” to “tell[ ] 
[Petitioner] that cooperating would be to his [ ] bene-
fit,” to “try to achieve a rapport with [Petitioner],” or 
to “profess[ ] to know facts [investigators] actually did 
not have.”  App. 286a. 

The Wisconsin Supreme Court then denied the 
petition for review.  App. 281a. 

D.  On October 20, 2014, Petitioner filed a habeas 
petition in the Eastern District of Wisconsin, see App. 
235a, which the district court granted, holding that 
Petitioner’s confession was “so clearly involuntary,” 
App. 276a, that relief was warranted under AEDPA, 
App. 197a–279a.  

A divided Seventh-Circuit panel affirmed.  In the 
panel majority’s view, investigators’ use of “paternal 
assurances and relationship building,” “pleas for hon-
esty,” “implied promises,” and claims that they “al-
ready knew” certain information were unduly 
coercive given Petitioner’s age and other limitations.  
App. 123a–62a.  The majority also spent page after 
page, in several parts of its decision, criticizing the 
Wisconsin Court of Appeals for the brevity of its opin-
ion.  App. 91a–93a, 97a–98a, 110a–11a, 113a, 118a–
23a.  “A state court need not say much, but the less it 
says,” the panel majority chided, “the less a federal 
court can ascertain that the state actually applied a 
totality of the circumstances evaluation.”  App. 120a.   
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Judge Hamilton dissented, giving many of the 
same reasons he would offer in his en banc majority 
opinion.  App. 173a–96a.  “The majority seems to ex-
pect longer, more detailed, and perhaps more an-
guished opinions from the state courts in such cases,” 
Judge Hamilton explained, but “expectations do not 
call for habeas relief” because “[f]ederal courts have 
‘no authority to impose mandatory opinion-writing 
standards on state courts.’”  App. 182a (quoting John-
son, 568 U.S. at 300). 

The Seventh Circuit granted the State’s petition 
for rehearing en banc and reversed.  The en banc ma-
jority explained that while factors such as Petitioner’s 
age and “somewhat limited” intellectual faculties 
“tend[ed] to support” his arguments, “[m]any other 
factors” supported the Wisconsin Court of Appeals’ 
voluntariness conclusion, and federal courts should 
not second-guess that reasonable application of the 
totality-of-the-circumstances test under AEDPA.  
App. 2a, 26a–29a.  Petitioner spoke “with the officers 
voluntarily and with his mother’s knowledge and con-
sent,” “was given Miranda warnings and understood 
them,” and “showed no signs of physical distress.”  
App. 27a.4  He was “not subject to physical coercion or 
any sort of threats”; “[t]he investigators stayed calm 
and never even raised their voices.”  App. 27a.  He 

                                            
4 The en banc majority expressed “reservations about the 

use of ‘suggestibility’ as a factor in this analysis, at least on these 
facts,” where Petitioner relied upon a measure of suggestibility 
that had been “contested” “at trial.”  App. 10a n.2. 
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“volunteered” “most of the incriminating details” “in 
response to open-ended questions,” and “resisted” in-
vestigators and “stuck to his story” on several topics.  
App. 27a–28a.  Investigators also made no promises 
of leniency.  App. 33a–34a.  The “relative brevity of 
[the Wisconsin Court of Appeals’] opinion” is irrele-
vant under AEDPA, but in any event the state court 
considered all the relevant factors, including “en-
dors[ing] detailed findings by the trial court.”  App. 
29a–30a.   

Chief Judge Wood and Judges Rovner and Wil-
liams dissented, in two separate opinions, for many of 
the reasons given by the panel majority.  App. 40a–
70a.  Chief Judge Wood’s dissent also included a chart 
that purported to show that Petitioner was not rely-
ing upon “his own independent recollection” in his 
confession, but the only source Chief Judge Wood 
identified for Petitioner’s account of his rape was his 
discredited reference to the Kiss the Girls book.  App. 
50a.  Judge Rovner’s dissent, in turn, argued at length 
that courts should “update” their coercion doctrines in 
light of “current social science research.”  App. 58a–
70a.       

REASONS FOR DENYING THE PETITION 

I. As Petitioner Concedes, The Petition Is A 
Splitless Request For Error Correction  

Petitioner concedes that he is merely seeking 
splitless error correction.  Petitioner devotes most of 
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his argument section to attempting to show that “the 
decision below is wrong.”  Pet. 16 (heading for argu-
ments on pages 16 through 30).  The Seventh Circuit 
did not err, see infra Part II, but even if it did, that 
would not justify this Court’s review, see Sup. Ct. R. 
10; Stephen M. Shapiro et al., Supreme Court Practice 
352 (10th ed. 2013).    

While Petitioner does not allege any relevant 
“conflict” of federal court of appeals or state supreme 
court authority, Sup. Ct. R. 10, he claims that review 
is warranted because there has been some divergence 
as to how “meaningfully” courts have analyzed the 
vulnerabilities of minors when speaking with law en-
forcement.  Pet. 30–35.  The cases that Petitioner cites 
merely show that different courts have written opin-
ions of different lengths.  Nothing in the two federal 
court of appeals cases that Petitioner praises for con-
ducting what he deems to be sufficiently “detailed” 
analyses, Pet. 33—United States v. Preston, 751 F.3d 
1008 (9th Cir. 2014) (en banc), and Hall v. Thomas, 
611 F.3d 1259 (11th Cir. 2010)—suggests that a state 
court that takes a more abbreviated approach violates 
this Court’s “clearly established” caselaw under 
AEDPA.  And the cases that Petitioner criticizes for 
their brevity are almost entirely intermediate state-
court decisions.  Pet. 31–32.5  The only decision from 

                                            
5 The cases that one of Petitioner’s amici criticizes, see Pro-

fessors Amicus Br. 19–21, are largely intermediate state court or 
unpublished decisions.  The one state supreme court case that 
the amicus critiques, Professors Amicus Br. 19—Nebraska v. 
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a state supreme court that Petitioner faults as too 
brief, Pet. 31—Washington v. Unga, 196 P.3d 645 
(Wash. 2008)—conducted an analysis of the suspect’s 
age and circumstances that is no less “detailed,” Pet. 
33, than the Eleventh Circuit’s discussion of the mi-
nor’s characteristics in Hall, which Petitioner singles 
out for praise.  Compare Unga, 196 P.3d at 648–54, 
with Hall, 611 F.3d at 1284–90. 

Finally, one of Petitioner’s amici discusses a cou-
ple of state supreme court decisions finding that con-
fessions by minors were involuntary, Professors 
Amicus Br. 20–22, but the egregious facts in those de-
cisions only underscore the deficiencies in Petitioner’s 
challenge, especially given that those cases involved 
de novo review, while this case arises under AEDPA.  
Utah v. Rettenberger, 984 P.2d 1009 (Utah 1999), in-
volved police interrogating a suspect over two days, 
keeping him in solitary confinement overnight, 
threatening him with the death penalty (“firing 
squad”; “[h]anging”), and denying him access to his 
mother.  Id. at 1011–12, 1018–19.  In In re J.F., 987 
A.2d 1168 (D.C. 2010), the officers engaged in “aggres-
sive” late-night questioning of a fourteen-year-old 
who denied his involvement in the crime 63 times, 
used “threats of invasive procedures,” and “clearly 
conditioned” the suspect’s ability to leave the police 

                                            
Goodwin, 774 N.W.2d 733 (Neb. 2009)—involved only the ques-
tion of whether the officers there made a false promise of leni-
ency during a brief, “25 to 30 minute[ ]” interview.  Id. at 745–
46. 
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station on his admitting guilt.  Id. at 1178–79.  And 
in In re D.L.H., Jr., 32 N.E.3d 1075 (Ill. 2015), officers 
repeatedly told a nine-year-old—whose “cognitive 
abilities were only at the seven- to eight-year-old 
level,” id. at 1091—that “no consequences would at-
tach to an admission,” id. at 1096.  In the present 
case, investigators read the 16-year-old Petitioner his 
Miranda rights, obtained his mother’s consent, and 
conducted a three-hour-long interview with a break, 
made no threats or promises, and used only common 
techniques such as taking a sympathetic tone, encour-
aging honesty, and challenging him with the holes in 
his story and what they already knew.  See infra pp. 
23–24.6 

II. The Seventh Circuit Committed No Error 

Even if this Court were inclined to consider Peti-
tioner’s splitless request for error correction, the Sev-
enth Circuit’s decision is entirely correct. 

A. Obtaining federal habeas relief from a state 
court’s application of one of this Court’s totality-of-
the-circumstances tests is particularly challenging.  
To receive a writ under AEDPA, a petitioner must 

                                            
6 The only case cited by either Petitioner or his amici hold-

ing that a confession was involuntary under AEDPA involved an 
overnight, 13-hour interrogation of a minor who was not given 
any break for the first nine hours.  Pet. 31 (citing Doody v. Ryan, 
649 F.3d 986 (9th Cir. 2011) (en banc), without discussing un-
derlying facts); see Doody, 649 F.3d at 1015.  
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show, as relevant here, that the state-court decision 
“involved an unreasonable application” of “clearly es-
tablished” law “as determined by” this Court.  28 
U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1).  Such relief is available only in 
the rare instance where the state court’s decision was 
“objectively unreasonable, not merely wrong.”  White 
v. Woodall, 134 S. Ct. 1697, 1702 (2014) (citation omit-
ted).  A state court’s application of a totality-of-the-
circumstances test is especially unlikely to warrant a 
federal habeas writ because “[t]he more general the 
rule, the more leeway courts have in reaching out-
comes in case-by-case determinations.”  Yarborough 
v. Alvarado, 541 U.S. 652, 664 (2004).   

The present case involves a state court’s applica-
tion of this Court’s totality-of-the-circumstances test 
for voluntariness: When deciding whether a confes-
sion is involuntary under the Fifth and Fourteenth 
Amendments, a court must assess “both the charac-
teristics of the accused and the details of the interro-
gation” to determine “whether a defendant’s will was 
overborne.”  Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 
226 (1973).  Although a finding of involuntariness can 
be based upon “coercion” that is “mental as well as 
physical,” Blackburn v. Alabama, 361 U.S. 199, 206 
(1960), this Court’s involuntary-confession cases “all 
have contained a substantial element of coercive po-
lice conduct,” Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 164 
(1986); e.g., Brown v. Mississippi, 297 U.S. 278, 281–
82 (1936) (physical coercion); Ashcraft v. Tennessee, 
322 U.S. 143, 149–50 (1944) (36-hour interrogation); 
Davis v. North Carolina, 384 U.S. 737, 739, 746 (1966) 
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(16-day detention with limited food); Beecher v. Ala-
bama, 389 U.S. 35, 36 (1967) (violent threats).  While 
a specific, false promise can contribute to an involun-
tariness finding, see Lynumn v. Illinois, 372 U.S. 528, 
534 (1963), general assurances that “cooperati[on] [ ] 
would be to [a person’s] benefit” are “far from threat-
ening or coercive,” even when made to a 16-year-old, 
see Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. 707, 726–27 (1979).  
Reading a suspect Miranda rights is no guarantee of 
voluntariness, but “cases in which a defendant can 
make a colorable argument that a self-incriminating 
statement was ‘compelled’ despite . . . adhere[nce] to 
the dictates of Miranda are rare.”  Berkemer v. 
McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 433 n.20 (1984).   

Evaluating the voluntariness of juvenile confes-
sions requires “special care,” Haley v. Ohio, 332 U.S. 
596, 599 (1948) (plurality op.), a principle that is 
simply an implementation of “[t]he totality approach,” 
which incorporates “all the circumstances,” including 
“the juvenile’s age, experience, education, back-
ground, and intelligence,” see Fare, 442 U.S. at 725.  
For example, in Boulden v. Holman, 394 U.S. 478 
(1969), this Court upheld as voluntary a confession by 
an 18-year-old with an IQ of 83, conducted late at 
night, where police told the suspect that he would not 
get a lawyer until he talked and they denied his fa-
ther’s request to see him.  Id. at 480–81; see Boulden 
v. Holman, 385 F.2d 102 (5th Cir. 1967).  In Fare, the 
police took a 16-year-old into custody, questioned him, 
denied his request to speak to his probation officer, 
and told him “that a cooperative attitude would be to 
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[his] benefit.”  422 U.S. at 710–11, 727.  This Court 
held that those statements were “far from threatening 
or coercive” and the claim of coercion “without merit.”  
Id. at 727.  

The cases where this Court has held that juvenile 
confessions are involuntary have involved extreme 
facts.  In Haley, this Court found an involuntary con-
fession when police arrested a 15-year-old, interro-
gated him overnight “for about five hours” using 
“[f]ive or six” officers, and when “[t]here [wa]s evi-
dence that he was beaten.”  332 U.S. at 597–98.  The 
police coerced a confession in Gallegos v. Colorado, 
370 U.S. 49 (1962), by holding a 14-year-old for five 
days and denying his mother access.  Id. at 50, 54.  In 
re Gault, 387 U.S. 1 (1967), involved an unusual con-
fession during a juvenile delinquency hearing with 
“no transcript or recording,” where officials denied the 
minor several due process protections and did not in-
form him of his right to remain silent.  Id. at 5–8, 55–
56.   

B. The Wisconsin Court of Appeals’ holding that 
Petitioner’s confession was voluntary falls well within 
the broad range of reasonableness permitted by 
AEDPA, especially given the “leeway” that the state 
court has in applying a totality-of-the-circumstances 
rule.  See Yarborough, 541 U.S. at 664.   

The state appellate court articulated the proper 
test: “We evaluate a confession’s voluntariness on the 
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totality of the circumstances, . . . balancing [ ] the de-
fendant’s personal characteristics against the police 
pressures used to induce the statements.”  App. 285a; 
compare Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 226.  The court 
noted Petitioner’s age, App. 284a (“[s]ixteen-year[s]-
old”), and intelligence, App. 286a (“low average to bor-
derline” IQ), and adopted the trial court’s findings, 
App. 286a, which discussed Petitioner’s other attrib-
utes, see App. 331a (Petitioner’s “only [prior] police 
contacts” were the interviews early in the investiga-
tion); App. 331a (finding “no evidence that [Peti-
tioner] . . . [was] unusually susceptible or vulnerable 
to police pressures”).   

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals then briefly  
summarized the circumstances of the interview and 
investigators’ techniques, App. 286a, and those cir-
cumstances fully support the court’s voluntariness 
holding.  Investigators sought permission to conduct 
the interview, and both Petitioner and his mother 
consented.  App. 12a, 343a.  Investigators had offered 
to let Petitioner’s mother participate in an interview 
just two days earlier, but both Petitioner and his 
mother declined.  App. 284a, 332a; R.19-19:7.  Inves-
tigators Mirandized Petitioner, App. 12a, 344a–46a, 
359a, even though he was not in custody, App. 331a, 
and Petitioner testified at trial that he understood the 
Miranda warnings, R.19-21:42.  See Berkemer, 468 
U.S. at 433 n.20.  They interviewed him for roughly 
“three hours” in the middle of the day, “repeatedly of-
fer[ing] food, drinks, restroom breaks, and opportuni-
ties to rest.”  App. 13a.  Investigators “used normal 
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speaking tones, with no hectoring [or] threats,” App. 
286a; they “stayed calm and never even raised their 
voices,” App 27a; see also App. 13a.  Petitioner 
“showed no signs of physical distress,” App. 27a, 
“never refused to answer questions, never asked to 
have counsel or his mother present, and never tried to 
stop the interview,” App. 13a–14a.   

Investigators repeatedly encouraged Petitioner to 
be honest and “challenge[d] . . . details that seem[ed] 
implausible.”  App. 28a, 37a, 286a.  They occasionally 
“bluff[ed] about what they knew.”  App. 11a, 27a–28a, 
286a.  They made vague assurances that “cooperating 
would be to [Petitioner’s] benefit,” App. 286a, but 
made no “specific promises of leniency,” App. 2a, 33a–
35a, 286a, warning Petitioner, “[w]e can’t make any 
promises,” App. 362a.  These are “standard interroga-
tion techniques that courts have routinely found per-
missible, even in cases involving juveniles.”  App. 
175a.   

The recording and transcript also show that none 
of these routine techniques overcame Petitioner’s will.  
Petitioner “resisted” many of the most suggestive 
questions, App. 28a—investigators repeatedly chal-
lenged Petitioner’s answers about whether he shot 
the victim, App. 412a–13a, 416a, 421a, 458a (e.g., “We 
know you shot her too.  Is that right?”), when the fire 
started, App. 379a, 417a–18a, 420a, 424a, 457a, 
459a–60a (e.g., “Are you tellin’ us the truth?”), 
whether Petitioner and his uncle used some wires in 
the garage for anything, App. 471a–73a (e.g., “Are you 
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being honest with me now?”), and what happened to 
the victim’s hair, App. 452a–54a (e.g., “[Y]ou know 
we’ll find it if you [have it].”).  Yet Petitioner consist-
ently “stuck to his story,” App. 28a, “strongly sug-
gest[ing]” that his will was not overborne, Minnesota 
v. Murphy, 465 U.S. 420, 438 (1984).   

Petitioner also demonstrated voluntariness by 
“provid[ing] many of the most damning details him-
self in response to open-ended questions,” App. 2a, in-
cluding “what he did, what he saw, what he heard, 
and even what he smelled,” App. 192a.  See Lyons v. 
Oklahoma, 322 U.S. 596, 605 (1944).  Most signifi-
cantly, Petitioner provided some details that investi-
gators never asked for.  Early on, an investigator 
challenged Petitioner about “how [he] kn[ew]” a par-
ticular detail, and Petitioner, recognizing he had been 
caught in a lie, changed his story and admitted for the 
first time that he “hear[d]” the victim “[s]creaming” 
while he “was outside riding [his] bike.”  App. 384a.  
Later, after Petitioner admitted going into his uncle’s 
trailer, investigators asked if the victim was “alive,” 
to which Petitioner responded, “Well she was hand-
cuffed to . . . [t]he bed.”  App. 389a–90a.  At trial, Pe-
titioner’s only explanation for many of the details that 
he provided was that he pulled them from the novel 
Kiss the Girls, R.19-21:67, although “[n]o scenes in ei-
ther the book or the movie it inspired are remotely 
similar to the crimes [Petitioner] described,” App. 22a 
n.7.  Petitioner has no other explanation as to why he 
told investigators—to their surprise—that he raped 
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the victim while she was tied up in bed.  See supra pp. 
7–8. 

Nothing about this Court’s “clearly established” 
juvenile-confession caselaw, 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1), 
calls into doubt the Wisconsin Court of Appeals’ con-
clusion that these tactics did not coerce Petitioner into 
confessing.  Again, investigators engaged in noncus-
todial questioning of a 16-year-old with an IQ “in the 
low 80s,” App. 40a,7 for only three hours, with a break, 
in the middle of the day, obtained permission from his 
mother to talk to him, and read him his rights.  That 
is a far cry from Haley, where this Court found a con-
fession involuntary when police aggressively interro-
gated the 15-year-old suspect overnight for five or six 
hours, and may well have beaten him, 332 U.S. at 
597–98, and Gallegos, where police held a 14-year-old 
for five days, “during which time the boy’s mother un-
successfully tried to see him and he was cut off from 
contact with any lawyer or adult advisor,” 370 U.S. at 
50, 54.  And the facts here were less coercive than 
even Boulden, where this Court upheld a confession 
as voluntary even though the 18-year-old suspect had 
an IQ of 83, and police told him he could not see a 

                                            
7 The Petition refers to a “verbal IQ” of 65 from a test in 

1996 when Petitioner was six or seven years old.  Pet. 6; R.19-
12:86.  More contemporary testing showed Petitioner’s composite 
score “in the low 80s,” see R.19-22:23–25, 49, and his “thinking 
ability” at 93, in the “average range,” R.19-20:89.  At the time of 
the interview, Petitioner was in “mostly regular-track high 
school classes.”  App. 286a; R.19-20:86–87.   
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lawyer unless he talked and denied his father access 
to him.  See 394 U.S. at 480–81; Boulden, 385 F.2d at 
104–05.   

C. The contrary arguments that Petitioner makes 
are entirely meritless. 

First, Petitioner’s only argument for overcoming 
AEDPA deference rests upon his baseless assertion 
that the Wisconsin Court of Appeals was not entitled 
to deference because it only “recited [Petitioner’s] age 
and intellectual deficits,” but did not include specific-
enough language showing that it “conducted [an] 
‘evaluation’ of those attributes.”  Pet. 16, 20–22, 31.  
Petitioner does not even attempt to grapple with this 
Court’s admonition that “federal courts have no au-
thority to impose mandatory opinion-writing stand-
ards on state courts,” Johnson, 568 U.S. at 300.  For 
example, in Early v. Packer, 537 U.S. 3 (2002) (per cu-
riam), the Ninth Circuit granted a habeas petition af-
ter finding that a state court had “failed to apply [a] 
totality of the circumstances test.”  Id. at 8 (citation 
omitted).  The state-court decision “succinctly de-
scribed” a particular fact earlier in its opinion, but 
“did not [ ] mention [it again] in its analysis,” so the 
Ninth Circuit concluded that the state court had 
“failed to consider” that fact.  Id. at 8–9 (citations 
omitted).  This Court summarily reversed because it 
“strain[ed] credulity” to suggest that the state court 
“failed to consider facts and circumstances that it had 
taken the trouble to recite.”  Id. at 9 (citations omit-
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ted).  Petitioner accuses the Wisconsin Court of Ap-
peals of much the same: mentioning youth and other 
limitations but then failing to discuss them in its to-
tality-of-the-circumstances analysis.  Pet.  20–21.  
Cases such as Early and Johnson foreclose this argu-
ment.  Indeed, even if the Wisconsin court had re-
jected Petitioner’s argument with no reasoning, 
AEDPA deference would still apply.  See Harrington 
v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86 (2011). 

Petitioner’s argument appears to rest upon the 
meritless assumption that the “special care” language 
from Haley, Gallegos, and Gault requires state courts 
to write out a detailed analysis of the voluntariness of 
juvenile confessions to benefit from AEDPA defer-
ence.  Pet. 1–2, 16–18, 20–22.  But this Court has not 
imposed any show-your-work requirement on state 
courts and, to the contrary, has explained that “fed-
eral courts have no authority to impose mandatory 
opinion-writing standards on state courts.”  Johnson, 
568 U.S. at 300.  Notably, even this Court’s more re-
cent juvenile-confession decisions would fail Peti-
tioner’s imagined opinion-writing requirement.  In 
Boulden, this Court rejected the involuntariness ar-
gument of an 18-year-old with an IQ of 83 in a single-
sentence cross-reference to the lower courts’ deci-
sions.  394 U.S. at 480–81.  And Fare, this Court’s 
most recent juvenile voluntary confession case, ad-
dressed the voluntariness argument in a single, short 
paragraph.  442 U.S. at 727.   
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Even if Petitioner were somehow correct that fed-
eral courts can require state courts to do more than 
“recite[ ] Petitioner’s age and intellectual deficits” to 
qualify for AEDPA deference, the Wisconsin Court of 
Appeals did do more.  While the court’s opinion in-
cluded only a somewhat abbreviated discussion, it ex-
plained that it was “[b]as[ing]” its holding on the trial 
court’s “findings,” just as this Court based its decision 
on the lower courts’ decisions in Boulden.  App. 286a.  
The trial court’s “findings” were thorough, including 
a longer discussion of Petitioner’s age and develop-
mental characteristics.  App. 330a–31a.  In all, there 
is no fair way to read the Wisconsin Court of Appeals’ 
decision as less detailed than Boulden or Fare. 

Second, Petitioner argues that his confession was 
involuntary under de novo review, Pet. 23–30, but this 
claim is not only irrelevant in light of AEDPA, see su-
pra pp. 19–20, but wrong on the merits.   

None of the tactics that Petitioner criticizes in-
volved “substantial . . . coercive police conduct,” Con-
nelly, 479 U.S. at 164, nor the sort of extreme 
misconduct that this Court has found problematic in 
its juvenile-confession cases.  The first “tactic” that 
Petitioner criticizes is investigators’ repeated admon-
ition to “tell the truth.”  Pet. 24.  This Court has never 
held that encouraging honesty can be coercive, and 
numerous lower courts have concluded that it is not.  
See 2 Wayne R. LaFave et al., Criminal Procedure 
§ 6.2(c) n.158 (4th ed.).  Petitioner next argues that 
investigators “promise[d] [him] that if he was ‘honest,’ 
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he would be ‘set . . . free.’”  Pet. 24 (quoting App. 
362a).  The full quote Petitioner refers to is, “[h]onesty 
is the only thing that will set you free,” App. 362a, a 
paraphrase of a common maxim, see John 8:32.  That 
statement came very shortly after investigators told 
Petitioner that they could not “make any promises.”  
App. 362a.  Petitioner also points to investigators’ “pa-
ternal posture,” Pet. 27, but this Court has upheld 
confessions where police took a “sympathetic[ ]” or 
“friendly” approach, see Beckwith v. United States, 
425 U.S. 341, 343, 348 (1976); Frazier v. Cupp, 394 
U.S. 731, 738–39 (1969).   

Petitioner argues that investigators engaged in 
“fact-feeding,” Pet. 24–27, but cites no authority for 
the proposition that a few leading questions are coer-
cive, even when dealing with minors or those with 
other mental limitations.  Confronting a suspect with 
what the police already know is often a necessary 
technique when a suspect repeatedly lies.  At most, 
this Court has found that confessions composed en-
tirely of “yes-or-no” answers are more likely to be in-
voluntary, Fikes v. Alabama, 352 U.S. 191, 195, 198 
(1957); see Spano v. New York, 360 U.S. 315, 322–23 
(1959); here, Petitioner “provided many of the most 
damning details himself in response to open-ended 
questions,” App. 2a; supra pp. 6–8, 25–26.  Indeed, the 
only examples of leading questions containing a pre-
viously unmentioned detail that the Petition can mus-
ter came after Petitioner had already confessed to 
raping the victim, cutting her throat, and burning her 
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body.  Compare Pet. 25–27 (citing App. 411a and fol-
lowing), with supra pp. 6–8; App. 364a–410a.  

Finally, Petitioner argues that his confession was 
false and that this “falsity” “underscores its involun-
tariness.”  Pet. 28–30.  This Court has held that vol-
untariness is “a question to be answered with 
complete disregard of whether or not petitioner in fact 
spoke the truth,” Rogers v. Richmond, 365 U.S. 534, 
544 (1961); Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 384–85, 
(1964); Connelly, 479 U.S. at 167, and adopting a dif-
ferent approach is not available on AEDPA review.   

In any event, the trial evidence demonstrated 
that Petitioner’s confession was, in Judge Hamilton’s 
words, the truthful “product of a guilty conscience.”  
App. 179a.  The physical evidence that the State pre-
sented to the jury aligned with Petitioner’s confession, 
including the handcuffs found in the bedroom, the 
bullet fragment with the victim’s DNA on it in the 
garage, and various items Petitioner described using.  
See supra pp. 9–10.  The jury had ample reason to dis-
believe Petitioner’s implausible defense that beside 
spending time with his uncle at a bonfire (where the 
victim’s body was burning) and cleaning up a dark red 
stain in the garage, he otherwise saw nothing, heard 
nothing, and did nothing: Petitioner had lied to police 
about the bonfire, R.19-21:56, lost significant weight 
and was seen crying uncontrollably in the months fol-
lowing the crimes, R.19-18:189–90, and told his 
cousin that he saw the victim “pinned up in the bed-
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room,” R.19-18:193–94.  And Petitioner’s only expla-
nation for his unexpected confession that he had 
raped the victim while she begged him to stop was his 
implausible assertion that he got the story from a 
book he had read years earlier, even though “[n]o 
scene[ ]” in that book is even “remotely similar to the 
crimes” here.  App. 22a n.7.  So while Petitioner pur-
ports to highlight a couple of inconsistencies or other 
evidentiary issues,8 the jury reasonably concluded 
that what he admitted to doing was, in fact, truthful.   

III. Given That This Case Arises On Federal Ha-
beas Review, It Is An Exceedingly Poor Ve-
hicle For Considering The Issues That 
Petitioner And His Amici Raise  

A. Even if this Court agrees with Petitioner that 
courts should generally write more detailed opinions 

                                            
8 The absence of blood or DNA evidence in the bedroom, for 

example, Pet. 29–30, is unsurprising given that Petitioner and 
his uncle burned the victim’s body, her clothes, and the bed 
sheets, App. 416a–18a, 432a–34a, and had four additional days 
to clean up before police found the victim’s car, App. 198a.  The 
fact that Petitioner “‘couldn’t think of’” his uncle shooting the 
victim, Pet. 29 (quoting App. 411a), is also easily explained: In-
vestigators’ preceding questions had focused Petitioner’s mind 
on what happened in the bedroom, App. 402a–411a, and the 
shooting occurred later, in the garage, see App 421a.  And Peti-
tioner did not change his answer about the knife.  Pet. 29.  He 
insisted that his uncle initially left it in the car, App. 429a, and 
later guessed that his uncle “[p]robably” moved it back to the 
kitchen, because “he wouldn’t let that knife go,” App. 474a.   
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in juvenile-confession cases, but see supra pp. 27–29, 
this case is not a proper vehicle for addressing that 
issue.  “[F]ederal courts have no authority to impose 
mandatory opinion-writing standards on state 
courts.”  Johnson, 568 U.S. at 300.  If this Court 
wishes to instruct federal courts to provide more anal-
ysis, it should await a proper case. 

B. Respondent suspects, however, that the heart 
of what concerns Petitioner and his amici is not the 
length of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals’ decision or 
even that court’s application of this Court’s current 
caselaw to the facts here.  What Petitioner and his 
amici want is for this Court to look to “recent” “devel-
opments in social-science research,” Pet. 2, 15, 18–20, 
24, 30, 34–35, and to impose a more restrictive regime 
governing juvenile interrogations.  After all, as Peti-
tioner not-so-subtly reminds this Court, its “last juve-
nile-voluntariness case” was “nearly forty years” ago, 
Pet. 2 (citing Fare, 442 U.S. 707), and a lot of new re-
search and literature has since been produced.  That 
is also why several of Petitioner’s amici devote their 
briefs to criticizing “prevailing techniques,” Prosecu-
tors Amicus Br. 5–16 (emphasis added), and asking 
this Court to “provide guidance” on juvenile interro-
gations, Law Enforcement Instructors Amicus Br. 1, 
6, 9, 24.  These arguments line up comfortably with 
Judge Rovner’s en banc dissent, “encouraging courts 
to update their understandings of . . . coercion” based 
upon recent literature.  App. 58a (emphasis added).   
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Whatever the merits of these calls for changes in 
the law, considering such alterations is not available 
on AEDPA review.  This Court has repeatedly re-
versed federal courts for purporting to “extend” prior 
precedent in AEDPA cases.  Woodall, 134 S. Ct. at 
1706; see, e.g., Kernan v. Cuero, 138 S. Ct. 4 (2017); 
Dunn v. Madison, 138 S. Ct. 9 (2017); Virginia v. Le-
Blanc, 137 S. Ct. 1726 (2017); Woods v. Etherton, 136 
S. Ct. 1149 (2016); White v. Wheeler, 136 S. Ct. 456 
(2015); Woods v. Donald, 135 S. Ct. 1372 (2015); Glebe 
v. Frost, 135 S. Ct. 429 (2014); Lopez v. Smith, 135 S. 
Ct. 1 (2014).  It would send confusing mixed signals, 
to put it mildly, if this Court were now to contradict 
these prior pronouncements and use this AEDPA case 
to develop the law on juvenile confessions. 

In any event, several aspects of Petitioner’s social 
science would not support his claims in this case—
making clear that what he wants is a particularly on-
erous regime for juvenile interrogations, based upon 
a selective interpretation of that literature.  For ex-
ample, Petitioner cites research allegedly showing 
that minors “rarely fully comprehend [Miranda] 
rights.”  Pet. 19.  Yet Petitioner testified at trial that 
he did, in fact, understand his Miranda rights, R.19-
21:42, and he demonstrated his understanding by re-
peating investigators’ warnings in his own words dur-
ing their first interview with him on February 27, 
compare App. 513a (Investigators: “You’re free to go 
at anytime, [and] . . . you don’t have to answer any 
questions if you don’t want to.”), with App. 554a (Pe-
titioner: “I could leave whenever . . . and I didn’t have 
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to answer any questions.”).  Petitioner’s desired re-
gime would, apparently, conclusively presume that 
minors always fail to understand their rights, even if 
they later testify in court to the contrary.  Similarly, 
while Petitioner confessed to raping the victim “less 
than an hour into the interview,” App. 15a, and ad-
mitted to helping murder her less than 15 minutes 
thereafter, App. 177a, an article studying known false 
confessions, co-authored by one of Petitioner’s attor-
neys, concluded that “interrogation-induced false con-
fessions tend to be correlated with lengthy 
interrogations in which the innocent suspect’s re-
sistance is worn down,” Steven A. Drizin & Richard 
A. Leo, The Problem of False Confessions in the Post-
DNA World, 82 N.C. L. Rev. 891, 948 (2004) (empha-
sis added) (reporting that “80% of the false confessors 
[studied] were interrogated for more than six hours, 
and 50% . . . for more than twelve hours”); see also 
Brandon L. Garrett, The Substance of False Confes-
sions, 62 Stan. L. Rev. 1051, 1095 (2010) (finding 
“[o]nly four” false confessions from interrogations of 
“less than three hours”).   

The problems with Petitioner’s desired approach 
do not end there.  To take another example, if Peti-
tioner is correct that merely encouraging a juvenile to 
tell the truth can be deemed impermissibly coercive, 
Pet. 24, it is not clear what police can do when inter-
viewing a juvenile whom they believe is lying.  After 
all, investigators here took numerous precautions—
they Mirandized Petitioner even though he was not in 
custody, App. 331a, 345a–46a, reminded him of the 
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warnings, App. 359a, confirmed he understood them, 
App. 346a, 359a, asked for his mother’s consent, App. 
343a, offered to let her sit in on one interview, App. 
284a, 332a, 562a, “repeatedly offered food, drinks, re-
stroom breaks, and opportunities to rest,” App 13a, 
and “stayed calm and never even raised their voices,” 
App. 27a.  If, notwithstanding this careful approach, 
investigators act unlawfully by telling a suspect that 
his story does not add up and that the truth is his best 
option, that would, in Judge Hamilton’s words, 
“pose[ ] troubling questions for police . . . with little 
gained in terms of justice.”  App. 175a.   

This Court may, someday, adopt the restrictive 
approach to juvenile confessions that Petitioner and 
his amici favor, concluding that the cost in “terms of 
justice” that troubled Judge Hamilton is worth impos-
ing because juvenile interrogations are inherently co-
ercive absent truly extraordinary precautions.  Or 
this Court may mandate some more incremental 
change to its juvenile-interrogation caselaw, reflect-
ing a balance between the need to investigate crime 
and limiting techniques that research has revealed to 
be more problematic than previously thought.  This 
Court may even eventually conclude that some of the 
techniques that Petitioner’s amici criticize should no 
longer be permitted in juvenile cases.  Precisely be-
cause these choices are so consequential and sensi-
tive, this Court should not grapple with them in the 
context of AEDPA review, where the only proper 
question is whether the state court unreasonably ap-
plied this Court’s current “clearly established” law.  
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CONCLUSION 

The Petition should be denied. 
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